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1 The Fact Finding Team

1. Rajendran Narayanan(n.rajendran@gmail.com), Assistant Professor, Azim Premji
University, Bengaluru.

2. Chinamaya Kumar(hichinmaya@gmail.com), Independent Researcher, Patna.
3. M. R. Sharan(sharanidli@gmail.com), Ph.D. Student, Harvard University, Boston.

4. Anognya Parthasarathy(anognya.parthasarathy@yif.ashoka.edu.in), Young India Fel-
low, Ashoka University, Sonepat.

5. Saila Sri Khambatla(saila.kambhatla@yif.ashoka.edu.in), Young India Fellow, Ashoka
University, Sonepat.

6. Parth Shrimali(parth.shrimali@yif.ashoka.edu.in), Young India Fellow, Ashoka Uni-
versity, Sonepat.

7. Inayat Sabhikhi(inayat.sabhikhi@gmail.com), Fellow, Centre for Budget, Gover-
nance, and Accountability, Ranchi.

2 Glossary of Abbreviations

e SPSS: Samaj Parivartan Shakti Sangathan

e BMW: Bihar MNREGA Watch

e MNREGA: Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act
e NREGA: National Rural Employment Guarantee Act

e NCPRI: National Campaign for People’s Right to Information
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e PDS: Public Distribution System

e RTI: Right to Information

e FIR: First Information Report

e PO: Programme Officer

e PRS: Panchayat Rozgar Sahayak

e PS: Police Station

e SHO: Station House Officer

e FFT: Fact Finding Team

e BDO: Block Development Officer

e DDC: District Development Commissioner

e SDO: Sub Divisional Officer

e DC: District Collector

3 Background

Samaj Parivartan Shakti Sangathan (SPSS) began with the electric passion of one man
Sanjay Sahni, a class 7 drop-out and then an electrician in the streets of Janakpuri in
South-West Delhi to expose corruption in the National Rural Employment Guarantee
Act (NREGA also MNREGA) in his panchayat. Now, the passion has spread, from
a man to a village, from village to panchayat, panchayat to block and finally all over
Muzaffarpur district and spilling onto a neighbouring one, encompassing 10000 labour-
ers. SPSS is no longer one man’s crusade against corruption, it is a people’s movement
that fights for increasing awareness among citizens regarding their rights.

Sanjay Sahni’s chance discovery of the internet in August 2011 went hand-in-hand with
a series of other startling encounters. Within a few days of accessing the world wide web
for the first time, Sanjay had realised something equally momentous — lakhs of rupees
were stolen by his elected representatives and their nexus of crooked bureaucrats in the
name of his fellow-villagers. The NREGA promised 100 days of work for any household
that approached a representative of the state for work. In Ratnauli, Sanjay’s village,
labourers had barely heard of the act; even fewer had ever asked for work. And yet,
incredibly, as per official online records, many had worked for days together. What’s
more, they had been paid and the money had been withdrawn from their accounts.
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A quick visit to Ranauli from Delhi confirmed Sanjay’s worst fears. Most of the records
were fraudulent.

Sanjay soon began calling people off the NREGA website (www.nrega.nic.in). With
some luck and many months later, he found himself telling his story to Nikhil Dey of the
National Campaign for the People’s of Right to Information (NCPRI). Nikhil Dey put
him on to Mr. Santosh Mathew, then Principal Secretary, Rural Development Depart-
ment, Bihar government. Santosh Mathew instituted an audit in Ratnauli within a week
of receiving the complaint. The audit team from Patna visited Muzaffarpur about four
months after Sanjay first accessed the NREGA website and asked several uncomfortable
questions. For the first time in their lifetimes, many persons in Ratnauli had actually
seen government officials from Patna. In their eyes, Sanjay had transformed,from a non-
descript occasional visitor to local hero.

Sanjay didn’t rest on his laurels and went about putting together a team of individu-
als that would help raise awareness. And soon, the Bihar MNREGA Watch (BMW)
was born first, as a people’s organisation used to monitor the implementation of the
NREGA in Ratnauli and its neighbouring panchayat, Mahant Maniyari. If the NREGA
had to provide work to labourers — as the act had been envisaged and not concentrate
excess wealth in the hands of the Mukhiya and his cronies, then people needed to know
what was going on in their names and what they were entitled to. The BMW held
several “awareness” sabhas in Ratnauli and neighbouring Mahant Maniyari. The sab-
has attracted visitors from other panchayats too and the common meeting ground for
participants was soon rechristened “NREGA chowk”. At their core, these sabhas were
awareness meetings. However, several things seem to happen simultaneously: strategies
were planned, new avenues for work and expansion identified. Workers were trained to
demand work from the state — a right under the NREGA — both orally and through
applications. Soon, as opposed to the past, real workers worked on the scheme and on
doing so, demanded payments within 15 days, as was stipulated in the Act. Most workers
were (and continue to be) women. They worked hard, ensured the work was measured
by a qualified engineer, applied pressure on the panchayat Rozgar Sevak (PRS) to make
note of their attendance, even appointed mazdoor—-mates of their own.

Thus, roads were built, ponds were dug, earth levelled.

Soon, an enlightened work force wasn’t merely satisfied with work-provision and pay-
ments for the same. They began demanding that their ration be delivered on time: in
Mahant Maniyari, a group of women gheraoed the local Fair Price Shop dealer and in-
sisted he give them three-months’ worth pending grains to everyone in their village; the
old, the infirm and the widows wanted their pensions in their accounts in a monthly
manner, not on an arbitrary basis. Work was also pursued on the RTI front, using the
empowering law to demand rights. BMW was eventually subsumed by SPSS — a union
that was more than a mere monitoring agency, one that promised to look beyond the
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NREGA, one that promised to bring about change in the society.

SPSS grew across panchayats and blocks, eventually encompassing around 10, 000 labour-
ers across 2 districts. Everywhere, the stories were similar: first, the Mukhiya-PRS-
Postoffice (elected representative-bureaucracy-payment agency) nexus was broken down,
corruption exposed using information uploaded on the NREGA website; then, labourers
demanded and obtained work, agitated for timely and correct payments. Sabhas were
held, dharnas organised at the collector’s office, at the Mukhiyas’ homes. Rights were
demanded, responses were videotaped, audits organised, RTIs filed. The local media was
often sympathetic, extensively covering some of the bigger agitations — for instance, the
one for timely payments organised at Muzaffarpur in August 2013 was covered by both
local newspapers and TV News channels.

All this was not without facing backlash from the elected representatives. A few SPSS
members were threatened, some injured in scuffles. More shockingly, Ram Kumar
Thakur, a lawyer who was also a resident of Ratnauli and a supporter of SPSS, was
shot dead in the open by the Mukhiya’s men. Despite SPSS meeting the Chief Minis-
ter, Mr Nitish Kumar, and the Rural Development Minister at the centre, Mr Jairam
Ramesh, and briefing them on the matter, the Mukhiya continues to reside in the pan-
chayat. On the other hand, Mr Thakur’s close family lives in constant fear, fending off
threats by the Mukhiya’s cronies.

SPSS continues to inspire not merely in Muzaffarpur, but across the country. SPSS
volunteers are a frequent presence in many movements for change everywhere — over
200 labourers came out in a protest in Delhi for the passing of the Whistleblower’s Bill
in February 2014. Their mobile radio campaign, where labourers get short 2 minute
messages about the latest developments in their locality on their cell phones, has been
touted as a great example for using technology to further rural causes. SPSS has held
social audits of government schemes on their own and have presented findings before the
district collector.

Having come a long way, SPSS still has much more to do. It does however offer a
unique kind of hope — that rural mass movements can develop organically, with only
cursory support from the elite and no support at all from the rich; that one man’s thirst
for justice can find resonance among thousands; that thousands together can get their
denied rights even in the harshest of environs; that the traditional sources of power — the
corrupt officaldom — can be broken down and forced to change, using a unique marriage
of traditional non-violent methods (dharnas, petitions, campaigns and marches) and
modern techonology (the internet, mobile radio and cell-phones). SPSS is a struggle for
change that stands for a remarkable, if simple dictum: we will know, we will live.
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4 Prelude to the FIRs

The labour organisation created by Sanjay Sahni has had a remarkable success over
the last few years in reducing corruption in the Public Distribution System (PDS) and
NREGA. A significant contribution has been the substantial degree of empowerment and
agency of the largely illiterate and Dalit women community who are part of the organ-
isation. The extent of awareness and information about their rights and entitlements
pertaining to various social welfare programmes gained in such a short span of time is
commendable and unique in democractic engagement in the country.

The local administration and power structures have not taken well to this rapid burst
in women fighting for their rights and entitlements. This has resulted in a slew of false
First Information Reports (FIRs) against Sanjay Sahni, in an attempt to stifle the quest
to assert their rights and crusade against corruption and patriarchy, that is endemic,
not just in this region but in the entire country. We present below the list of FIRs filed
against Sanjay Sahni from the most recent to the oldest.

1. Received and registered Maniyari P.S. (Muzaffarpur district) as case number 52/17
dated 31/03/2017 under sections 147, 149, 341,342,353,379,504, 506, IPC. “S.I.
Arun Kumar Singh will please investigate this case”. FIR filed by Mr. Shambhu-
nath Singh, son of Shyam Lal Singh, village Rahimpur. Currently working as the
PRS of Ratnauli panchayat, Kurhani block, Muzaffarpur district.

2. Received and registered Maniyari PS (Muzaffarpur district) as case number 01/17
dated 01/01/2017 under sections 147/149/341/323/325/353/379/307/507 /506 IPC
. “S.I. Laxman Ram will investigate this case undersigned by SHO Amit Kumar.”
FIR filed by Shatrugahn Kumar, son of Ramcharya Singh, a resident of Gram
panchayat Rampur, Lakkhisaray district. Currently working as PRS in Amrak
Gram panchayat in Kurhani block in Muzaffarpur district.

3. Received and registered Town PS (Muzaffarpur district) as FIR number 45/14
dated 15/10/2014 under sections 341,147,149,353. Further subsections 3,4,5 Bihari
Service Maintenance Act 908/9 (Use of playing loud speaker act). FIR filed by Mr.
Anil Kumar.

4. Received and registered Maniyari P.S. (Muzaffarpur district) as case number 277 /14
dated 10/10/2014 under sections 147,341,342,384,386,323,353,120(b) IPC. S.I. V.K.
Gupta will investigate this case. FIR filed by Jeetendra Kumar, son of Satya-
narayan Pd. Currently working as block Programme Officer (PO) Kurhani block,
Muzaffarpur district.

The most recent FIR against Sanjay Sahni was filed on 31st March, 2017 by the PRS
of NREGA of Ratnauli panchayat. We will present the details of this FIR and with
evidence illustrate the false nature of it to substantiate the vendetta that the local power
structures have had against Sanjay Sahni and the organisations SPSS/BMW at large.
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5 Testimonials of the FIR filed on 31/03/2017

The FFT interviewed various stakeholders connected to the most recent FIR filed on
31/03/2017. The testimonials of each concerned stakeholder is presented in sequence.

5.1 Testimonial of Shambhunath Singh (PRS), the complainant
of the FIR

According to the FIR that was procured and studied by the fact finding team, Shamb-
hunath Singh had gone to an NREGA work site in Mahant Maniyari village in Ratnauli
Gram panchayat on 31/03/2017. There were two separate works on construction of farm
ponds where there were 153 labourers present at the work site. Shambhunath Singh had
apparently gone to the work site to collect signatures in the muster roll when, at around
12:30 PM, Sanjay Sahni of Ratnauli panchayat reached the work site. He then supposedly
started instigating the labourers whose names weren’t on the muster roll to sign on the
muster roll. When Shambhunath apparently declined that their names weren’t on the
muster, about five people (Nana Lalan Sahni, Umesh Sahni, Pavitra Paswan, Mandesh-
wari Devi) snatched and tore the muster rolls. According to the FIR, as Shambhunath
Singh was trying to escape from the scene, he was verbally abused by Sanjay Sahni who
then, along with a few others started beating him up. Consequently, Shambhunath claims
in the FIR that he was badly hurt in the chest and then called the block Programme
Officer (PO) Mr. Jeetendra Kumar, who came to his rescue and took him to the Sadar
Hospital in Muzaffarpur town for treatment. In fact, the FIR was filed by Shambhunath
Singh in the presence of the block PO at the Sadar Hospital on the night of 31/03/2017.

The PRS was repeatedly contacted by the Fact Finding team between 14/04/2017 and
16/04/2017. The PRS didnt respond to several phone calls. Finally, a text message
was sent to him asking him to speak on the phone. One of the members of the fact
finding team managed to speak to him on the phone. However, when asked to speak on
the recent FIR filed by Shambhunath Singh against Sanjay Sahni and other members of
SPSS, Shambhunath refused to comment on it. He insisted that, he had spoken to “higher
authorities” who had advised him to speak about it only within the block office premises
and not to speak on the phone. Shambhunath refused to meet in person before the
18th of April and also refused to speak on the phone about the FIR. Despite a member
of the FFT telling him that no member of the FFT would be in Muzaffarpur on the
18th, the PRS responded saying “There is a lot of pressure on me to finish transferring
the money of workers and finish work on Aadhaar seeding. I am always giving most
importance to my work so I am busy.” The FFT member pleaded saying “I understand.
I won’t take up a lot of your time. I will just take 10 minutes of your time to discuss the
FIR.” The PRS reponded saying that he wouldn’t want to talk about the matter on the
phone. He continued saying that Ratnauli panchayat is unsafe for him and he wouldn’t
talk anything about it on the phone. He said “I am sorry. I can’t say anything on the
phone.” Further, the PRS refused to either meet in person before the 18th of April, 2017.
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When requested to speak again, the PRS said that he filed an FIR to get some security
from the government so that in future there isn’t any untoward incident against him in
that panchayat. The PRS further asked a member of the FFT to speak wih the block
PO about the incident. The PRS completely refused to comment any more on the phone
and hung up.

5.2 Testimonial of Sanjay Sahni about the FIR filed on 31/03/2017

According to Sanjay Sahni, he was not in Muzaffarpur on 31/03/2017. Sanjay said that
he had gone to Ranchi on 29/03/2017. On the evening of 31/03/2017, he got a call from
a friend saying that there was an FIR filed against him on the grounds that Sanjay and
a few other labourers had beaten up the PRS of Mahant Maniyari and consequently,
the PRS was admitted to a hospital. However, there is clear evidence that Sanjay was
in Ranchi on 31/03/2017 and was far away from the scene of the purported scuffle. As
evidence to the effect, we present the following —

e A copy of Sanjay’s bus ticket (Figure 1) from Muzaffarpur to Ranchi dated 29/03/2017.

e A letter written by Prof. Jean Dreze (Figure 2) on 03/04/2017 addressed to the
Director General of Police, Patna, Bihar with a cc to the Rural Development Sec-
retary, Government of Bihar stating that Sanjay Sahni was in fact meeting wtih
Prof. Dreze in Ranchi on 31/03/2017. In addition to mentioning that the FIR is
bogus, the letter by Prof. Jean Dreze states - “This is the latest in a long series of
acts of harassment against Sanjay Sahni by local MGNREGA functionaries, who
resent his attempts to prevent corruption in MGNREGA and organise MGNREGA
workers.”

e Passbook update done in Bank of India (Figure 3 and Figure 4) in Ranchi on
31/03/2017.

e Withdrawal slip from a Punjab National Bank ATM in Ranchi dated 31/03/2017.

5.3 Testimonial of ward member, Kishun Sahni, present at the
site of events on 31/03/2017

Kishun Sahni, a ward member of Mahant Maniyari panchayat, had gone to the work
site on 31/03/2017. Kishun saw a host of labourers waiting to sign the muster rolls.
According to Kishun, the PRS doesn’t come regularly to take signatures on the muster
rolls. As such, there is a lot of pending signatures to be collected when he comes to the
work site. This usually results in a bit of commotion because of the backlog work.

Kishun had gone to the work site that day to talk to the PRS about doing some work

on a farm pond. He noticed that there was some argument between the PRS and the
workers. Kishun Sahni said that Siri Sahni was waiting at the work site for a long time to
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Figure 1 — Bus Ticket

put down his signature on the muster roll. However, the PRS verbally abused him saying
“I am not your father’s servant to keep calling out your name.” Siri Sahni responded
to this statement by saying “You are a (public) servant and that’s why you are taking
signatures from us.” Kishun recolleceted that the PRS then got angry, moved his hands
violently, took his muster roll and left in a bike. Kishun followed him on a bicycle and
then asked the PRS to calm down. Kishun was absolutely certain that there wasn’t any
physical altercation between the PRS and the workers. However, when Kishun spotted
him at a place after following him in a bicycle, Kishun noticed a mild mark in his shirt.
The block PO, Jeetendra Kumar, was also there, and in front of Kishun, the block PO
tore the shirt of the PRS. The block PO had apparently come to the village with peo-
ple on five different bikes. The block PO asked Kishun to come with them but Kishun
refused citing that it is unethical to do so. The block PO then smeared the body of the
PRS with mud, took a photo of the PRS in that condition and sent it to the BDO and
the DDC. The next day Kishun Sahni read in the papers that the workers had torn the
shirt of the PRS. Kishun said “I didnt want to join them because I felt that whatever
was being done by the PO and the PRS was wrong.”
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3 Aprit 2017

Director Ganeral of Polica
Patna, Bihar
{digad-beh@nicin}

Dear Sr,

Bogus FIR against Sanjay Sahni (MGNREGA Watch) in Muzaffarpur
| am writing ta complzin abaut the lodging of a bogus FIR against my freend Sanjay 5ahni of
MGNREGA Watch, Muzatlarpur. This bogus FIR, lodged on 1 Aprl by & lecal Gram Razgar
Savak {GRS), sccuses San@y Sahni of attemptad murder on 31 March 2017. This cannot be

true because Sanjay Sahal was with me in Banchi at that time. M. Sahni ako Ras procfs of

ATM withdrawazland bank transactions m Ranchi that day.

Thisisthe latest ina borg series of 2cts of harassment against Sanjay Sahni by local MGNREGA
funconaries, wha resent his attempts to prevent wrrugption in MGNREGS and orgarise

MGENREGA workers.

A vopy of the bogus FIR is attached. | appeal to you to enquice into this matter without delay,

ke apprepriate action, and protect Sanjiy Sabal from further harassment,
Wours sincerely,

i.

2

%
@,

lean Drste (D¢
‘isiting Professor, Department of Economics, Ranchi Unives sity
(FATILI0049)

CcRurdl Devalopment Secretary, Gowernment of Bihar

Figure 2 — Letter from Prof. Jean Dreze

Kishun was an eyewitness to the PO tearing the shirt of the PRS and then smearing the
body of the PRS with mud and then falsely alleging that Sanjay Sahni and his friends
had done it. In fact, Kishun said that Sanjay Sahni was not even in the panchayat that
day. Sanjay Sahni, according to Kishun Sahni, was in Ranchi on that day. In anguish,
Kishun says “How can they file such a false FIR against Sanjay Sahni when he was far
away in Ranchi that day?” Kishun further says that the current PO always speaks to
everybody in a brash manner.

5.4 Testimonial of Dr. P.N. Verma, Sadar Hospital, Muzaf-
farpur

Two members of the FFT went to Sadar Hospital, Muzaffarpur on 16/04/2017 to speak
with the doctor and the attendant of the male ward number 28 where the PRS, Shamb-
hunath Singh, was admitted on the 31st of March, 2017. According to the testimonial
of the PRS, he was beaten up by Sanjay Sahni and the workers at the work site on
31/03/2017 and he was consequently admitted in the hospital.

10 [hosted at sacw.net document archive]

Rl [
ook v |



VAT
TR

Figure 3 — Bank of India Passbook

Dr. P. N. Verma said that he wouldn’t be able to provide any information pertaining to
the injury that happened on 31/03/2017. He asked the FET members to speak with the
Deputy Superintendent and/or the Civil Surgeon (Dr. Lalita Singh). A member of the
FFT spoke to the Civil Surgeon on the phone who asked Dr. P.N. Verma over the phone
to show the medical register of 31/03/2017. Dr. Verma then summoned Mr. Sharma,
an attendent in the Emergency Ward to bring and show the register to the FFT. Mr.
Sharma said that the register was with the record keeper and that the record keeper
would only come the next day. Mr. Sharma was able to recollect the admission of the
PRS in Sadar Hospital on the night of 31/03/2017. Mr. Sharma asked the FFT to come
the next day, seek permission from the Deputy Superintendant, to access the medical
register. However, Mr. Sharma informally said that “I remember it was a Friday night.
The PRS was perfectly fine. He had nothing but was admitted in the hospital on a whim.
Shambhunath Singh came at night with a lot of people on motor bikes on the night of
31st of March. There was no space to move around. The entire hospital was crowded by
the what seemed like the entire district staff of NREGA had come. All he had was just
mud on his body and nothing else. The PRS said that he was hurt but I couldn’t find
anything wrong with him but if a patient comes and says that he is hurt, then we have
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Figure 4 — Bank of India Passbook Update

to give some medication. He was admitted here for 3 nights. Dr. R.B. Singh attended
to him. He was perfectly fine. He was just acting like he was hurt.”

One of the FFT members spent the whole day next day trying to access the injury
report. But, the FFT member was neither given nor shown the injury report on the
grounds that this was a “medico-legal case”. Dr. R.B. Singh could not be reached by
the FFT members to speak on the matter.

5.5 Testimonial of Indu Devi, a labourer who was at the site of
events on 31/03/2017

Indu Devi, a woman in her 30s, was at the work site when the alleged scuffle happened.
According to her, the PRS was seeking signatures from workers at the work site for 4
weeks of work. The work was concerning construction of farm ponds earlier in 2017.
Some muster rolls were filled but some were blank muster rolls. Along with a few others,
she objected to him getting signatures on blank muster rolls and asked him to get sig-
natures only on muster rolls that have names of people in it. “Some of us, for the sake
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of record keeping, were videographing the incident” she said. While the entire process
was going on, when 15 people were left to sign, Siri Sahni, a worker, who was waiting
at the site for several hours asked the PRS to enter his signature saying “I have been
waiting for too long, could you please take my signature.” The PRS responded to this
request by saying “I have called your name. Where were you?” to which Siri said “I
have been sitting right here for so long. I would’ve heard if you called out my name.”
The PRS apparently got angry at this response of Siri and said - “What do you think?
I am not your father’s servant.” Hearing this, Siri responded saying “Well if you are not
a [government| servant, then why are you recording our signatures? [Aap naukar nahi
hai toh kya hai?].” At this the PRS became angry and started verbally abusing them.
As Indu Devi was trying to control the situation, the PRS moved his hands violently
that hit Indu Devi in her stomach. She didn’t give up but continued to talk to the
PRS saying “Bhaiya! Chhod dijiye na. Aap kaam kar rahe hain, kaam kijiye, jhanjhat
nahin kijiye” (Brother! Leave the matter. Please continue working and don’t pick a fight.)

The PRS continued being angry and kept pushing Indu Devi away while she repeatedly
tried to make him listen and then finally Indu Devi left him because she was hurt in
the stomach. He was taking signatures of people whose names weren’t in the muster
roll. When Indu Devi expressed anguish at him taking signatures of peole not in the
muster roll, he said “Why are you talking? I will enter the details later.” He further
used abusive language with Indu Devi saying “Who do think you are? I will come to
your house and take you away.” Despite him using such abusive language, Indu Devi
continued addressing him as “Brother” and asked him to calm down and not to speak
like that. He then folded the muster roll and got on his bike and left. Then she said that
“we heard that he tore his own shirt, applied dirt on his body, and filed a case against
us. We heard that it came out in the papers the next day.” Indu Devi went on to say
that she was quite unconscious because of being hurt in the stomach and could have filed

an FIR against the PRS.

5.6 Testimonial of Mandesri Devi, a labourer who was at the
site of events on 31/03/2017

Mandesri Devi, a woman in her 50s, was at the work site when the alleged scuffle hap-
pened. The work was concerning farm ponds. The PRS reached the site around 2PM.
“We were waiting for our signatures to be taken on the muster roll at the work site.
There were people from both Ratnauli panchayat and Mahant Maniyari panchayat.” she
said. While they were at the site asking him to fill out signatures for filled muster rolls,
there was a person called Siri from Ratnauli panchayat who apparently said “I have been
waiting for long. I am a poor man. Could you please read out my name.” At which
the PRS responded saying “I called out your name. Where were you?” Siri responded
saying “You didn’t call out my name. I am waiting here. I would have heard my name
had you called.” At this, the PRS got angry and said “I am not your fathers servant
that I will keep calling out your name.” Hearing this, Siri responded saying “If you are
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not a servant, then why do you come here?.” The PRS got angry and moved his hands
violently. It didn’t hurt Siri but hurt some women as some of us, she said, were waiting
in front of the PRS.

Mandesri Devi, along with a few other women asked the PRS to calm down, leave the
matter and continue taking signatures on the muster roll. The PRS, in a very angry
tone said “I will take you all away from your house.” Then the PRS folded his papers
and left at aroun 4 PM. Mandesri Devi, along with a few others were at the work site
till 6PM, waiting for the PRS to show up. They then gave up waiting and left the site.
The next day, Mandesri Devi heard that the PRS had filed a case against some of them.
Mandesri Devi said that none of the workers had touched the PRS but the PRS moved
his violently and hurt Indu Devi. Mandesri Devi said that the women were trying to
separate the PRS from Siri Sahni to avoid any physical scuffie between them. On the
contrary, the PRS hurt Indu Devi and Chanda Devi. Sanjay was in Ranchi at that time
and all of them at the work site know that Sanjay Sahni was in Ranchi when this incident
happened. “The PRS has been historically unhappy with us because we have learnt to
ask for our rights.”

5.7 Testimonials of some labourers present at the site of events
on 31/03/2017

They were giving work under Ratnauli panchayat. So, Shambunath Singh, the PRS
of Ratnauli panchayat, was responsible for signatures on muster rolls. The PRS would
come once every 5-8 days and as such their signatures and attendance were not on the
filled muster rolls but on other papers. The NREGA workers told him to atleast put
their attendance properly. The PRS, they say, doesn’t even give the muster rolls to the
workers. “Aap humein muster rolls nahi dete kamse kam haajri toh chadha lijiye (You
dont give us muster rolls so at least fill it out correctly.)” They approached him for
their attendance to which he said “OK, give me the number and list of names.” He
wrote everyone’s names and attendance on another piece of paper and went away. After
the end of December 2016, their work got over and Lalpari devi called up the PRS to
come and get signatures on the muster rolls for completed works. Siri Sahni, one of the
workers, tired of waiting for long said in exasperation, “Aap hajri banate hai ya mazaak
karte hai?” (Are you getting signatures or having fun). Siri told him that he had been
sitting there since 11 am in the morning and still the PRS hadnt taken his signature nor
had he revealed his attendance.

To this the PRS reacted saying “Aap ko lag raha hai ki hum naukar aagaye hai? [Do you
think I'm your servant? | Siri responded saying “Aap naukar nahi hai toh kya hai?|[well
if you are not a (government) servant, what are you?]” At this the PRS became angry,
abused them all and started fighting. The PRS allegedly said, “I will drag you out of
your house and beat you up!” Siri Sahni and 3 other women were almost hit. Then 2-3
women asked him not to indulge in physical fighting. The PRS then went ahead and
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tore his own clothes with a blade and admitted himself in the hospital. After which he
apparently met the PO and went to the hospital. Chandrakala Devi says this with a lot
of confidence that the labourers didn’t even touch him. They came to know about all of
this through a local newspaper report. One worker, Somariya Devi, apparently saw the

PRS tear his own shirt with some assistance from the block PO in the pursuit of tearing
the shirt of the PRS.

There was a worker who went with him (Kishun Sahni from ward no. 5). Kishun Sahni
came on a bicycle from behind to do the receipt work. The PO didn’t go to the site.
The PO was there at ward number 5. He went to the ward’s place and headed mostly to
the police station. Kishun Sahni saw the PO tearing the kurta and then applied ‘mitti’
over him. Sanjay was in Ranchi during this incident. The NREGA workers were the
only ones even present during this FIR. In utter exasperation, one of the workers asked
a rhetorical question - “why does he always fight with us? We just ask for our right.
Looks like he assumes he can make us leave our work and break the sangathan. We shall
continue protesting if they still don’t address our demands”

Why was Kishunji following the PRS? Kishunji had also come to get his attendance done.
He followed the PRS, who was riding on a scooter as he left, on his cycle. He and his
wife had also worked on the same site. When asked if they are afraid of getting more
FIRs, Chandrakala Devi responded saying “I don’t fear death, why should I fear an FIR?
What will they do? Take us to jail? I'm ready to go. Do they think that if they take
us to jail, we wont ask for work from the jail? We'll break the walls of the jail, we’ll tell
them give us work, take out the muster rolls. We haven’t come to sit and eat in the jail.
We want work even within the jail.”

5.8 Testimonial of the Block PO, Jeetendra Kumar regarding
the FIR filed on 31/03/2017

Mahant Maniyari and Ratnauli panchayats are in Kurhani block in Muzaffarpur district.
Jeetendra Kumar is the NREGA Programme Officer (PO) of Kurhani block. The block
PO is the supervisor of the PRS of each panchayat. According to the PO, there have
been repeated FIRs in Ratnauli. He says that the workers of the two panchayats insist
that they will retain the muster rolls. When specifically asked about the FIR filed by
the PRS against Sanjay Sahni and a few others on the 31st of March, 2017, the PO
responded saying “It was the last day of work on a farm pond. The PRS frequenly takes
attendance and at around 3:30 PM on the 31st of March, 2017, the PRS called me and
told me that there was some was altercation with him at the work site. As such an FIR
was filed. The labourers should salute the PRS for the work done but his shirt was torn
by the workers. I didn’t go to the place but the the PRS sent me a photo of his with a lot
of mud and torn shirt. I don’t remember who the FIR was filed against. I am guessing
Sanjay Sahni’s name was there in the FIR. So I feel that Sanjay Sahni is a repeated
offender. The PRS was in Sadar hosptial for 3 days between 31st March and 2nd April.”
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While the PO was speaking about this FIR, somebody walked in to the PO office and
spoke in a loud threatening voice with the members of the FFT - “Are you working for
Sanjay Sahni or are you working for the PRS.” When the FFT members asked who the
person was, the PO sent him out and didn’t reveal who it was.

5.9 Testimonial of the SHO, Maniyari Police Station regarding
the FIR filed on 31/03/2017

The SHO is aware of the array of FIRs filed against Sanjay Sahni and a group of labourers
who are part of the Sangathan. The SHO felt that there could be faults on both sides
— from the administration side as well as the labourers. However, the investigation is
incomplete so it is difficult to say anything more concrete at this point. The SHO had
himself registered the FIR of the PRS on the night of 31/03/2017 at the Sadar Hospital
in Muzaffarpur town. The SHO said he did notice some scars on the body of the the PRS
and felt that if the scars are real then there might have been a scuffie. It is, however,
early to comment on the matter. The SHO made a verbal assurance to some members
of the FF'T that he will get back to us in a week or so. When a member of the FF'T
reached out to the SHO on phone on 30/04/2017, the SHO was not available as he was
away on a holiday and would return on the 8th of May, 2017. The FFT member was
asked to contact the SHO after that.

6 Summary of the Findings of the the FIR filed on
31/03/2017

The FIR (4th in a series of FIRs) against Sanjay Sahni and some members of the San-
gathan(SPSS) filed on 31/03/2017 clearly appears to be a case of personal vendetta of the
local NREGA administration against Sanjay Sahni, and the members of the Sangathan
at large.

There is very clear evidence, as illustrated in this report, that Sanjay Sahni was in Ranchi
on 31/03/2017. There is complete agreement in the testimonials of various workers who
were present at the work site about the chain of events leading to the FIR. Each of the
workers that the FF'T spoke with indicated that not a single worker even “touched” the
PRS. On the contrary, there is a consensus that the PRS had pushed a woman worker
and used abusive language against many of the workers present at the site. The block PO
indicates that he didn’t visit the panchayat after the event but testimonials of the ward
member, Kishun Sahni (an eyewitness), and several other workers suggest otherwise. The
main complainant of the FIR, the PRS Shambhunath Singh, refused to comment about
the incident on the phone despite repeatedly seeking his comments. The attendant at
Sadar Hospital categorically said that there was no injury on the PRS and the admission
in the hospital was a “show” put up by the PRS.
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In the light of the clear evidence that Sanjay was in Ranchi on 31/03/2017 and the
dissonant testimonials between the PRS and the block PO on one side and everybody
else on the other side, it appears unmistakably evident that the FIR is false. The FIR
has been filed to intimidate Sanjay Sahni and the members of the SPSS to prevent them
from bringing about transparency in NREGA works in the panchayats and hinder the
efforts of SPSS to foster accountability of the local administration.

7

7.1

7.2

Events Leading to the First 3 FIRs

First FIR

In June 2016, a vehicle with block and panchayat administrators with a microphone
system had roamed the two panchayats and said that work would be provided to
all those who wanted it and to not let a third person interfere.

An FIR had been filed on 13" October 2014 against 4 people including Sanjay
Sahni. This was after a day of heated discussion on accepting group versus indi-
vidual receipts for work demand.

As part of the corruption free drive, workers from NREGA Watch had been filing
demand for work collectively for 100 days in a row, which was acknowledged by the
PRS.

On 8™ October 2016, 16 officials, including 8-9 PRS’, Junior Engineers, and the
recently posted (June 2014) Programme Officer, Jeetendra Kumar (who is also
the current PO) came to Mahant Maniyari Gram Panchayat to accept demand
application. They were accompanied by a thanedar from the Police Station.

They refused to accept group demand and instead took individual demand of work-
ers. In the receipt there was no job card number, name of the worker, date of receipt
or date on when work demanded. The receipt format only had the name and sig-
nature of the PRS.

After this was pointed out by members of NREGA Watch, arguments ensued. This
went on the whole day. As the day wore on, Sanjay Sahni called the SDO and DSP
who arrived after 10 pm and dissipated the situation.

For 4 days nothing happened, and on 13th October an FIR was filed with charges
of holding the officials captive, “maar-pitai”, confiscating government documents
etc.

Second FIR

The second FIR was filed on 15/10/2014 by the then SDO, Muzaffarpur in the Town
Police Station, Muzaffarpur. The main charges of this FIR were:
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e Forcibly using loud speakers and microphones in restricted areas without seeking

7.3

due permission from the authorities.

Occupying the gates of the government office thus creating obstacles in routine
government work.

Third FIR

Workers from SPSS were working on 3 worksites, in different locations. Work was
being provided to them separately and incrementally on the following works

1. Shri Radha Krishna Trust Ke Batra Pokhar Ki Udahi Karya. The work code
was: 0515005029/WC/20218030.

2. Indira Aawaas Labharthi Ajay Ray, Pita Kishori Ray ke Niji Zameen mein
Mitti Bharai Karya. The work code was: 0515005029/LD /59472

3. Gram Ratnauli Mein Anerva Jaan Ka Udahi Karya. The work code was:
0515005034/1C/20183170

On 26" December 2016, Sanjay Sahni was checking the NREGA Management
Information System (MIS), and noticed that a new work of “PCC road” (Giddiya
Tola Mahant Maniyari Mein Anil Paswan Ke Ghar Se Rajdev Paswan Ke Ghar Tak
PCC Karya, work code: 0515005029/RC/20234603) had been opened in Mahant
Maniyari Gram Panchayat. He also saw that the e-muster roll had names of several
non-NREGA workers. Sensing a red flag, he put out this message on the NREGA
Watch mobile radio for people to be vigilant of potential corruption. He also spoke
to someone in the concerned tola, Giddiya, and asked him to go check on the work.

27" December, 2016: Members of NREGA Watch reached the worksite at around
10 am where they saw that cement bags had been brought in, and a machine was
churning cement to build a road [Rs. 3.57 lakh is the approved financial sanction,
with Rs. 3.29 lakh on material costs]. About 3-4 people from Naya Gaon were
operating the machine and claimed that they were here because the Mukhiya,
Pawan Kumar Rai, had asked them to come and conduct this work and were going
to be paid a fixed rate for the same. This Mukhiya has been recently elected. The
workers of NREGA Watch called the mukhiya on the phone but he refused to come.
The people who had brought the machine drove off with it. After this, members of
NREGA Watch went to the Panchayat Bhavan and spoke to the Mukhiya. There
was heated discussion and it was decided that a larger meeting with concerned
officials and all members of NREGA Watch would be held the next day.

28" December, 2016: A meeting was called at the Panchayat Bhavan where the
BDO, PO (Jeetendra Kumar), PRS of Mahant Maniyari, Sanjay Ram and another
PRS of Amarkh Gram Panchayat, Shatrughan Kumar, the Mukhiya, Pawan Kumar
Rai, Junior Engineers and about 250 people were present. The PRS (who has
been holding this post for 8-9 months) had read out the muster roll where about
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100 people of both Mahant Maniyari and Ratnauli Gram Panchayat, members of
NREGA Watch, were given work in a village 15 kms away Pramod Kumar Ke Niji
Zameen Mein Pokhar Nirman Karya. This work was to start on 30" December
2016, but people refused to go and were agitated that work had been provided more
than 5 km away. A lot of altercation and exchange of words took place. Members
of NREGA Watch also pointed out that the work being done by machines was
illegal and further the quality of cement was poor. The PO allegedly said that
no payments have been made on the work yet, so allegations of corruption are
unfounded. The PRS of Amarkh, Shatrugan Kumar allegedly spoke up regarding
the quality of cement and said it was packaged from the company and therefore
uniform quality. The BDO spoke in favour of a “corruption free village” but did
not intervene. The meeting ended inconclusively.

e 30" December, 2016: This was the date for the hearing under the Lok Shikayat
Nivaran Act from a previous case of unemployment allowance filed by NREGA
Watch. Both parties (PRS/PO and NREGA Watch) had got summons but neither
went. [complaint ID: 999990116121683490 |.

e 1% January, 2017: FIR filed by Shatrughan Kumar, PRS of Amarkh Gram Pan-
chayat against Sanjay Sahni, Avdesh Sahni and 7-8 other people for 10 charges
under Indian Penal Code, 177, 149, 341, 323, 325, 353, 379, 307, 507, 506.

8 Historical Context of the first 3 FIRs leading to
the 4th FIR filed on 31/03/2017

In Section 5 and Section 6, the FFT has established how the fourth FIR filed against
Sanjay Sahni and other members of SPSS was bogus. As has been mentioned before,
there have been a series of FIRs to stifle the efforts to bring about transparency and
accountability of the local administration and the local elite.

The FFT conducted interviews with Sanjay Sahni, some members of SPSS, the block
Programme Officer (PO) of NREGA, the PRS of two different panchayats, the SHO
of Maniyari police station, the SDO of the Public Distribution System in Muzaffarpur
district, the Mukhiya of Mahant Maniyari panchayat, among others. These interviews
shed more light on the context of the struggle and present a narrative leading up to
the FIRs. The FFT is convinced that the FIRs are mostly bogus and are being used
as an instrument of harassment. Despite lack of literacy and despite years of being
subjugated by entrenched patriarcy, these women knights have gathered enormous agency
and empowerment to be able to fearlessly ask for their rights and entilements. It would
be a travesty to democracy if the subaltern women voices of Mahant Maniyari, who are
fighting for their rights, are nipped by the local administration and the local elites.
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8.1 Interview with Sanjay Sahni regarding the first 3 FIRs

The first FIR was filed in 2014 by the block PO, Jeetendra Kumar, in the Mahanth Mani-
yari (MM) panchayat on the grounds that Sanjay tore NREGA related papers and also
for engaging in fights against the PO. In 2014, the PO was posted in Musahari block. He
was there for just 2 months and then he was transferred to Kurhani block in June 2014.
Soon after assuming office in Kurhani block, the PO started using microphones and loud
speakers in the villages openly dissuading people from being part of the Sangathan. The
PO had also begun engaging with the panchayat Mukhiya to start a propaganda against
Sanjay.

Prior to Jeetendra Kumar becoming the PO, the members of SPSS would present their
demand for work under NREGA in groups. This saved a lot of paper and was an attempt
to help the local administration streamline the process of presenting work demand. For
instance, demand for work for over 300 people was being done using only 30 to 35 pages.
Till October 2014 the members of the Sangathan would call the PRS and ask him/her to
collect the filled out work demand forms from the Panchayat Bhavan. The PRS would
then take the work demand forms, sign the photocopies of the work demand forms that
would serve as a collective receipt for all those who demanded work. This was a great
exercise of efficiently maintaining transparency of one aspect of the NREGA process. The
following figure depicts the collective work demand forms that was being by SPSS.But,
this process of presenting work demand forms collectively was not liked by the block PO.
The PRS was contacted on 07/10/2014 to take the collective work demand forms and en-
ter in the Management Information System (MIS) of NREGA to officially register. But in
addition to the PRS, there were 15 other people at the Panchayat Bhavan on 08/10/2017.

The PO disregarded the format for work demand that SPSS had created and insisted on
using a different format; a format that didn’t even have basic details such as the job card
number of the applicant and the date of demanding work. Such a format, rightly claimed
by Sanjay, would not serve any purpose of accountability in case the allocation of work
to the concerned applicant does not happen within 15 days of requesting for work. This
would have thus prevented from respecting the clauses enshrined in the Act.

Figure 5 depicts the format of demand for work for a group of applicants while Figure
6 depicts the format of registering work demand that the PO insisted. As can be easliy
gleaned from Figure 5, the format for work demand registration is much more detailed,
with a view to foster accountability while the format for work demand insisted by the
PO, Figure 5, lacks the ability to register even the basic details. The PO rejected the
efficient group work demand format (Figure 5 created by SPSS). Not wanting to com-
promise on accountability structures for work demand registration, the SPSS members
insisted on at least putting basic details such as the job card number, name, and the date
of demanding work in the format that the PO brought. Further, Sanjay claims that the
PO had arbitrarily reduced the wage rates of work done. This was done only to stifle the
zeal of the empowered members of SPSS, who are primarily landless women fighting for
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their rights.

Much arguments had ensued in the Panchayat Bhavan on the night of 08/10/2017 be-
tween the PO, a few Panchayat Rozgar Sevaks on one side with about 200 odd members
of SPSS on the other side. The PO continued to reject the collective work demand for-
mat created by SPSS. The SPSS members refused to accept the incomplete work demand
format (Figure 6)of the PO and asked the PO to call the district authorities. The PO re-
fused to do so. Afer much back and forth, the Block Development Officer (BDO) arrived
at the Panchayat Bhavan and the DDC spoke to Sanjay Sahni on the phone at 11 pm.
While all this action was on at the Panchayat Bhavan, around midnight, the DSP and
the SDO arrived at the Panchayat Bhavan. The DSP and SDO assured the members of
SPSS that a fair inquiry into the matter would be conducted and any mistakes of the PO
would be rectified. They urged the members of SPSS to let the PO leave the village.
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Figure 5 — Group Work Demand Format Created by SPSS

After much argument and after much insistence by the SPSS members, the PO had to
accede to their rightful demand in not compromising the tenets of the Act. This can
be seen in Figure 7. It is, however, a pity that the SPSS members had to go to such
an extent to ensure something as basic as putting their job card numbers and date of
demanding work in the form.

Two days later, on 10/10/2017, it came to the notice of Sanjay Sahni through some
media reports that an FIR had been filed against him by the block PO. According to the
FIR, the main charges against Sanjay Sahni were —

e Sanjay attempted to snatch important documents from government officials.
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Figure 7 — Work Demand Format Amended after efforts by SPSS

e While a camp was being conducted in the panchayat, Sanjay along with some anti-
social elements, arrived at the camp and started using abusive language on the

peaceful government officials.

e Sanjay and his group of anti-social people were forcing the government officials to

put backdated signatures on receipts of work demand forms.

When the officials

refused to participate in such an act, Sanjay and his group held the government
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officials hostage in the village.

e While the wages were being deposited to the workers’ accounts, Sanjay Sahni was
forcing the PO to pay more wages than were due to the workers.

e According to the FIR filed by the PO, Sanjay Sahni threatened the block PO with
dire consequences if the PO tried to complain about Sanjay. Further, according to
the FIR, Sanjay allegedely threatened that there should be no NREGA work in the
village without Sanjay’s permission. Moreover, Sanjay apparently wants NREGA
wages according to his own wishes and is thus putting pressure on the field level
functionaries to this effect.

Sanjay and the members of SPSS were aghast to note the FIR and felt that the charges
in the FIR were patently false. None of them had snatched or torn any official papers.
They believe that they were asking for the PO to respect the provisions of the Act and
not cheat the NREGA workers by subverting the Act. The false charges against Sanjay
and some members of the SPSS prompted the workers to do a dharna outside the Pan-
chayat Bhavan from 10/10/2014. Meanwhile, Sanjay Sahni sent a letter to the District
Magistrate (DM) of Muzaffarpur seeking permission to do a dharna in the Collectorate to
highlight various issues pertaining to NREGA that are plaguing the workers. The letter
is depicted in Figure 8. The letter seeks to address various cases of delayed payments,
issues pertaining to job cards, and issues pertaining to work demand registration, among
other things.

The SPSS members having sent a letter to the DM (Figure 8) informing the DM about
a dharna felt it was alright to take the dharna from the Panchayat Bhavan to the Collec-
torate. After a few days of dharna at the Panchayat Bhavan, the SPSS members went to
the DM’s office. This expression of protest became the context of the second FIR filed
against Sanjay Sahni and a few others. This FIR was filed on 15/10/2014 by the then
SDO, Muzaffarpur. The main charges of this FIR were:

e Forcibly using loud speakers and microphones in restricted areas without seeking
due permission from the authorities.

e Occupying the gates of the government office thus creating obstacles in routine
government work.

Sanjay does agree and acknowledge that the people at the site used loudspeakers and
microphones during their protest outside the DM’s office. Immediately after this, Sanjay
says that all the block programme officers of Muzaffarpur district went on strike on the
grounds that Sanjay Sahni is a contractor in NREGA who beats up government officials
and should be arrested. However, there were no arrests.

Following the incidents of the two false FIRs against Sanjay and some others, Sanjay

wrote a letter to the Secretary of the Ministry of Rural Development, Government of Bi-
har, on 17/12/2014. The letter categorically highlights the harassment that members of

23 [hosted at sacw.net document archive]



AT < D ) TR %
WA : NS5 : S fw,
a5k e S e 54 dre /o,
1era; Sriai |GG - (i s %
\ y
HEAE = A 25T Y AP BT e AT vzl o syl
- -~ ~7 2 - Ees
BEVET L
YA SR ) e S ?

& /‘é’""_”; B e e TR RN AR Ve 1 A S oS

Fas S Y477 o S - :
e "_( MATIT] W AT T ovene ok 15 o By WY BXS
e #7257 e <ianr %
9 53 5, Q- §
WP

s Syl -
i e Ty x),/f‘a;'jay Y ‘\{.:Z T W}‘_.;‘ T3
& 7Y Ty '&\ﬁ-‘r'b/-’ff‘/ R e e, 62—
ST ST S e ) "VT;;.-.‘ : .
OB T AAIH B Wy PN ; :
ML o 7 D R S - 2 TR R I N e T fen i L G
Pty = VA ’Q‘f'/ ATTT e Mk 20D AU % e fer
fthi\:,‘/, X1 VER, !;} Ve sl w? ’_‘vr'"n‘- W 7 /_\c ey 13 Wl 2:-_"0[!9 s
S S Rl 1 ST X1 MBS O H S
GIERSF 05 107 & iy 5

WANTRL s e IREGT fmfsa &) g pes il

e ' 1575 opedor
=7 B2 1y &

e - r

didis [ — LT =T _egs it L v
U e -
TPRSC RS Al Rnr Al A Vi LAl | \
o~ T e e 4 WY o5 &0 HeE e o)

e REI TS i ¢

S,

TR RIS D 07 YASEE Y e
> xt\__ \ e P Y
NS ; . 70

A 7zt '*‘"Ws""f'a/ii:!:g;;';;/' wt 4 )
AT K AP st

SEES i eS o ey te o (X5 0, alt 3 A AR :"V&
Rl - YO 1~ A ETTWSEZ]— ap 5% G¥ T o .
SRR R T S S AT
- : it L, i s S e = e €34 :
ST IS € ot ooy TAIDT I h B o s s
P e L e B V) 1 TRy <wp T -;;,,,5‘.'-;,7 37
P T VT £55% S iy B ahery S ¢ ! 2 7
ity R A ’\ 3 o ) ATV EH & ST ES o s et g
') . & AR R sy
(227 DN Gierain o)
= 3 St ) — NN 2 e TG i W s P
7 y = By o AL
% Gleae e, G & TN e ppadpenyt
PG - 3 BT e
e LU=t = LD ol S

Grrre gy iyt

: £
frasog.q ey — Sty e T3z — b e
wreo Vg ey T 206 b B A B AT P 3T D

NFCHN W GIE e

Finod TS uxn
- B et

2% lre S ity RS INSET = ')
&G e 7 7 == i

Figure 8 — Letter to the DM seeking permission for Dharna

SPSS were facing by the local NREGA administration, primarily raising the issues of the
group work demand format that was rejected by the block PO and the numerous cases of
delayed payments of wages. The letter sought to bring the attention of the Ministry to
the corruption and control exercised by the local power brokers and government officials
on NREGA workers. The letter is presented in Figure 9a and 9b.

Despite continued demand for work, Sanjay says that no work was alloted to the members
of SPSS. NREGA work is an important lifeline for the workers of SPSS and drying that
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Figure 9 — Letter to MoRD

up was becoming a huge blow to the villagers. The sustained indifference of the local
administration for over a year prompted the members of SPSS to stage a dharna at the
Collectorate in December 2015. On the 4 day of the dharna, the DDC (a new DDC)
reached the dharna site and apparently informed that new work sites have been opened
for people of that panchayat. However, the rules of engagement had now apparently
changed.

Sanjay says that earlier, at the work site, there used to be one mate and the group
members of SPSS would collectively monitor the accuracy of muster roll entries. This
was a practice that SPSS adopted owing to large scale bogus entries in the muster roll
before the worker collective began working. But the PO refused to recongnise the mate
and declined handing over the muster rolls to the mate at respective work sites. The
SPSS members requested at least a photocopy of the muster rolls to be provided through
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the PRS for continuous monitoring in the pursuit of transparency. Their struggle was
further exacerbated when the PO threatened to reduce the daily wage rate of the workers.

The onset of the new financial year (2016-17) prompted about 450 odd members of SPSS
to present a demand for 100 days of work in the beginning of April 2016. According to the
provisions of the Act, if the government fails to allot work within 15 days of demanding
for work, then the workers are eligible for an unemployment allowance. The demand for
work fell in deaf ears; a violation of the Act. The constant harassment and neglect for
over a year left the members of SPSS with no choice but to stage another dharna. Sanjay
says “We don’t want to do dharna. It’s not as if we like to stand in the sun all day, leaving
our villages. But the administration had left no choice. We are only asking for our rights.
What’s wrong with it?” SPSS had written a letter to the DM expressing anguish about
the situation of the daily wage labourers. The DM, apparently, didn’t yield a sympa-
thetic ear and reprimanded Sanjay for doing netagiri. The DM didn’t relent to provide
a copy of the issued muster rolls to the elected mate of each work group at the work site.
Sanjay expressed that this would be fine had the PRS visisted the work site everyday to
enter attendance in the muster roll but that seldom happened. Having learnt to navigate
the complex Management Information System (MIS) of NREGA, Sanjay could only find
the completed muster rolls online. Issued muster rolls for works weren’t available online.
Many NREGA labourers lack literacy and as such aren’t aware if their names appear in
the muster roll. There have been several cases across the country where people work at
the site when somebody else’s name appears in the muster roll. Thus issued muster rolls
are a crucial piece of document at the work sites. One could obtain the issued muster
rolls by filing RTIs but that would have taken a long time. Issued muster rolls should
have been made proactively available if there is a genuine desire to implement Section 4
of the RTL.

Sanjay spoke to Nikhil Dey of MKSS who in turn spoke with the government to make
issued muster rolls proactively available. This in itself is a creditable feat in ensuring
transparency at the grassroots. Issued muster rolls are now available online in the MIS.

The local administration continued to be unhappy with the sustained crusade of fostering
accountability at the grassroots. Having learned about the success of SPSS in procuring
issued muster rolls through the NREGA MIS, the PO apparently colluded with the lo-
cal power structures, such as the Mukhiya and the ward members of the panchayat, to
try and break the unity of the collective. They threatened some members to leave the
collective, failing which, they would be allotted work far away from the panchayat. It
acted as a bribe and threat simultaneously. This local power group achieved a degree
of “success” in dislodging about 30 odd members from SPSS. The SPSS members who
refused to budge were allocated work in Turky panchayat, about 20 kms away from their
own panchayat, Mahant Maniyari. The workers expressed legitimate concern about this
since travelling back and forth to Turky from Mahant Maniyari would cost, on an aver-
age, Rs 40 per person per day, roughly a quarter of their daily wages. The PO claimed

26 [hosted at sacw.net document archive]



that work could be allocated far away under some special circumstances but the SPSS
members perceived this as a form of retribution towards the workers for relentlessly seek-
ing answers to their legitimate questions. Further, the workers felt that given that three
farm ponds in the village needed work, there was no justification for work allocation 20
kms away. When seeking answers to this question, the PO apparently claimed that work
allocation was his discretion and he can choose to allocate work wherever he felt.

The SPSS members filed a grievance with the Bihar Grievance Redress Cell (Lok Shikayat
Nivaran) pertaining to work allocation 20 kms away. Before alotting work 20 kms away,
the PO, through NREGA allotted a road construction work by issuing muster rolls in
the names of people who never do NREGA work in the village and apparently machines
were used for this work; violating the principles of the Act. Further, there was not a
single member of SPSS whose name featured in the muster roll for the road construction
work. This violation of the Act prompted Sanjay to make a broadcast announcement
on the mobile phone broadcast network, around the 21st or 22nd of December 2016 re-
garding “usage of machines in NREGA in Mahant Maniyari and appealing the citizens
of the panchayat to keep a check on the corruption in this work”. Nobody in that vil-
lage, the jan pratinidhi , the sarpanch, the ward panch etc knew about this. The phone
message was broadcast to the ward members of the panchayat as well. Upon receiving
the message, the ward members of the panchayat visited the work site and found that
machines were indeed being used. This was videographed and photographed by some
members of the Sangathan.The contractor took away the machine. The Mukhiya, how-
ever, refused to come to the work site and instructed anybody interested to meet the
Mukhiya in the Panchayat Bhavan and passed the responsibility to the PRS. The SPSS
members urged the Mukhiya to call for a meeting the next day at the Panchayat Bhavan.

At the said meeting, the PRS confessed that he got the names of people to be entered in
the muster roll at the insistence of the Mukhiya. After the meeting, the PRS of Amarak
panchayat (a different panchayat) filed an FIR against Sanjay and some others of SPSS
on the 1st Jan, 2017. This PRS in the FIR claimed that Sanjay along with a group of
7 to 8 people beat the PRS up and tried to affect him physically by wanting to drive a
Bolero jeep over him and stealing a bag of muster rolls; a claim that is squarely dismissed
by Sanjay and members of the Sangathan. Sanjay learned later that the PRS of Amarak
panchayat had met with a motorbike accident that had injured his leg.

Based on the advise of the Bihar Grievance Redress Office, work in the local farm pond
was allotted from the 6" of January, 2017. Sanjay’s name wasn’t included by the PO in
the muster roll on grounds that “Sanjay hadn’t worked enough to get his name in the
muster roll”. This work, according to Sanjay, has been continuing till the 31%¢ of March,
2017. The PRS, say members of the SPSS, would come to the work site only once or
twice a week. There was a ward member who would take the names of some people in a
register and would play around with the the number of days worked in the muster roll
because the muster rolls weren’t brought to the work site. Then Sanjay left for Ranchi
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on the 29" of March, 2017 and the fourth FIR was filed against Sanjay on the 31%¢ of
March, 2017 when Sanjay was in fact, as established clearly, in Ranchi on the said date.

8.2 Interview with the PDS SDO

The current PDS SDO does not seem to exhibit any sympathy for Sanjay Sahni. The
narrative that is being spun around Sanjay in the local administration seems to be at
odds with what the members of SPSS indicate. She indicated that there is a general
perception among the local administration that Sanjay is raising public issues and in the
process he is demanding some cut. She had heard that there is an allegation that he is
blackmailing the adminstrative staff. She confessed that she doesn’t know the veracity
of these allegations but has heard that he has engaged in physical disputes with the
administrative staff. She clarified that as far as PDS is concerned, there was only one
grievance and that was redressed. The grievance was presented by Madina begum, a
member of SPSS and that grievances was redressed. Further, the grievance so raised was
genuine, said the SDO.

8.3 Interview with Kurhani Block PO

From the beginning of the meeting, the block PO, Mr. Jeetendra Kumar, kept repeating
that he has been a remarkable Programme Officer of NREGA in more than one block.
He mentioned that he has been among the top 5 programme officers several times. He
claimed to have been instrumental in generating assets worth crores of rupees across
districts and that he had done tree plantations in several places. He further claimed that
he has created 3,49, 000 person days of work.

When asked about the best performing panchayats in Kurhani block, he waxed eloquently
about Ratnauli, Mahant Maniyari, Akhtiyarpur, Sankarpurvi, and Jabaruah. In fact, he
said “there has been a record breaking number of person days in the last 5 years in Rat-
nauli and Mahant Maniyari”. He further said that while some labourers are empowered,
many are getting misguided. To this end, the block PO had threatened to file an FIR
against a member of MNREGA Jagrukta Council while the PO was posted in Raxaul
district on the grounds that the person was collecting funds from the labourers to file
unemployment allowance for the labourers. The PO apparently told the person that one
needed permission from the District Collector to collect funds from people. This threat,
claimed the PO, made the person stop working as part of MNREGA Jagrukta Council.

The PO went on to highlight the success stories from Mahant Maniyari, Ratnauli, and
Amarak panchayat saying that more than Rs 1 crore have been paid as wages to the
NREGA labourers of these places. He expressed pride in reiterating that these three
panchayats are totally corruption-free. When asked about the need for civil society en-
gagement in NREGA, he said that it is important to have civil society organisations in
places with problems. “What is the point of having civil society groups where the system
is already in good shape?” he said refering to the pointless presence of [sic SPSS] in good
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performing panchayats such as Mahant Maniyari, Ratnauli, and Amarak panchayats. It
is instructive to remember at this point that these are the three panchayats where SPSS
has a very strong presence.

Recollecting the events leading up to the first FIR against Sanjay in 2014, the PO said -
“I went to Mahant Maniyari and the daily routine work was on. We had gone to collect
work demand there. This was around October 2014. We were around 6 to 7 people who
were forced to remain in the village. I didn’t know because I was new. There was appar-
ently some problem with the wage payment of NREGA. We were stalled in the village
and told that unlesss we give them [sic SPSS members| money, they will not let us go.
We were held back till 12:30 AM. A CSO has to work in a place where there is corruption
not at a place where there is already a lot of good work done. A CSO person should work
as a facilitator. There were around 100-150 people who detained me. They were asking
for more money. They wanted to have more money than what was in the measurement
book. I told them that I will conduct an investigation against the engineer and then get
back but they did not let me go. This was totally unlawful. At that time, I filed an FIR
against Sanjay and a few others on the grounds that he was being an obstacle in govern-
ment work. There should be no major format for collecting work demand. The reason I
stopped their work demand format is because if there is a mistake then who will pay for
it. What if the person makes a mistake in entering the job card in the format. I didn’t
want them to use their format.” He further went on to add that being empowered implies
that one should get work on time. As a crucial addendum to his comments, the PO said
- “The day a mazdoor starts working well then automatically there will be no corruption.
If the labourer starts working well, then corruption will end automatically.” This seems
to suggest that the PO is pinning the laziness of labourers as the root cause of corruption.

When asked about the need to conduct social audits, the PO mentioned that he himself
is going to conduct social audits in Kurhani block. Elaborating further, he said he will
create an agency of well-meaning, literate people who will do social audits for him. It
seemed clear that he had no idea that social audits are conducted or should be conducted
by an independent body to evaluate the condition of works done in NREGA. He further
mentioned that in October 2014, the NREGA team from the block was holding a camp
in Mahant Maniyari. The PO had refused to accept the work demand application format
that SPSS had created. The PO didn’t want to accept responsibilities for mistakes by
the labourers in filling out the application form. The PO had filed an FIR against Sanjay
for interference in government work.

The PO further said that “in places where women and old people work, the work is
adversely affected.” He categorically stated that the credibility of NREGA was bad
because of women and old people. He continued saying “NREGA is not just a welfare
programme but it is also for asset creation. There is a lot of myth about the allowance

of machine. There can be mixing machine, for example. There is a list of machines
that can be used for NREGA work but people don’t know. The PRS should go around
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and explain when and which machines can be used.” While we were in the middle of a
conversation, somebody walked in and said - “Are you working for Sanjay Sahni or are
you working for the PRS and said in a loud threatening voice. When we asked who it
was, the PO sent him out and didn’t reveal who it was. The PO continued saying that
in case works have been exhausted in a village, then for exceeding the limit of 5 kms,
there will be 10% allowance. The PO indicated that there was one such instance when
he allocated work 10 to 11 kms away. This was in Ratnauli when work allocation wasn'’t
possible because the farm ponds had water so he had to allocate work for them in Turki
panchayat. However, this is in dissonance with several labourers’ testimonials (including
Sanjay) that this was a case of personal vendetta because there were several other works
to be done in Ratnauli and Mahant Manihari and yet the PO allocated work far away.

8.4 Interview with the Mukhiya of Mahant Maniyari

The current Mukhiya has intermittently been the Mukhiya from 2001 and has been in this
role more recently from 2016. The Mukhiya was also at the helm of affairs in the village
from 1978 to 2000. The Mukhiya repeatedly harped about the manner of engagement of
the Sangathan. The Mukhiya mentioned that he wants corruption to be eradicated and
indicated that if people felt that he was corrupt then he wouldn’t be re-elected so many
times by people in his village. He said that there is a lot of corruption in NREGA all over
the country and even here, in Muzaffarpur, but Sanjay’s method of fighting corruption
is agitational and not amicable. There is an ongoing work on road construction through
panchayat funds and some members of SPSS have been videographing the entire process
in a quest to ensure transparency. However, the Mukhiya has been unimpressed with
this effort of the SPSS members. He doesn’t see this as a drive to foster transparency
but instead as interference in his work. The Mukhiya emphasised that the method of
work practiced by the Sangathan is leading to much annoyance in the administration.

The Mukhiya has apparently asked Sanjay several times to alter the operational mode of
the Sangathan. “What is corruption?” was a rhetorical question posed by the Mukhiya
to which he responded saying “Taking bribes isn’t the only form corruption but being
high-handed is also corruption.” He insisted that Sangathan has made no difference in
practices of corruption in the village. He further added saying “Sanjay is just troubling
the administration and wants to highlight how there are many women with him. Now
there is road work going on and see they are checking, are they finding any fault there?
None. They bring the action to such a point that fighting becomes the obvious next
step.” The Mukhiya insisted that the Sangathan’s demand of wanting a copy of the
muster rolls in the panchayat wasn’t a fair demand. He maintained that it was the re-
sponsibility of the PRS and owing to the repeated use of abusive language by the women
of the Sangathan, the PRS and the PO have become angry and disinterested in visiting
Ratnauli and Mahant Maniyari panchayats. Refering to the case of allocating work in
Turki panchayat, 15 kilometres away from Mahant Maniyari, the Mukhiya supported the
block PO. The Mukhiya said “The labourers were allotted work in Turki panchayat. In
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this panchayat, the there isn’t much land work to be done. as such they were allotted
work in Turki panchayat. All the land here is for farming and construction of houses. So
to engage labourers, unless there is a construction of farm ponds there is no work here for
them. When they were allotted work in Turki, they didn’t want to go.” This contradicts
the version of the workers in the village who mentioned that there was work to be done
in farm ponds in Mahant Maniyari but such work wasn’t allotted and instead work was
allocated 15 kilometres away.

The Mukhiya said that while he was aware that some FIRs have been filed, he didn’t
know the reason and the content of these FIRs. He continued the narrative of women
using “abusive language” with the PO and the PRS when the PO and the PRS are in
fact “good people”. The Mukhiya elaborated his role and likened his role as more im-
portant than that of a saint. When asked about his role in removing corruption, the
Mukhiya responded by saying “How will you remove corruption when it all began right
from the inception of the universe?” The Mukhiya apparently has told Sanjay several
times to focus on work and avoid doing netagiri. The Mukhiya recollected another in-
cident of a conflict between the NREGA workers and a ration dealer. A ration dealer
was supposedly not giving due entitlements to the labourers and the Mukhiya had ap-
parently spoken to the dealer on behalf of the NREGA workers and gave the dealer 2
months to mend his ways. However, the NREGA workers were impatient, created trou-
ble and also “beat up the ration dealer”. When we told the Mukhiya that the narrative
from the members of the sangathan is radically different, the Mukhiya claimed ignorance.

We apprised the Mukhiya that the women members of SPSS are largely illiterate and ex-
tremely marginalised. We emphasised that they were given Rs 30 to Rs 50 per day before
the SPSS was formed. Their awareness of their rights and entilements have increased
manifold ever since the inception of the sangathan. When the Mukhiya was asked if this
exponential increase in the awareness and empowerment among women in his panchayat
is good or bad, the Mukhiya responded saying “it isn’t bad but what has the sangathan
got to do with it. They have learned all this from radio and television.” The Mukhiya
further added that the Mukhiya conducts training and he teaches everything to the peo-
ple in his panchayat. “Every Tuesday, I sit with the panchayat staff. I do Gram Sabha 4
times a year. (2nd Oct, 2 May, 15th Aug, 26th Jan) where I teach everything”. Elabo-
rating further, the Mukhiya undermined NREGA by saying “Only those people work in
NREGA, who are not capable of doing anything else, be it man or woman. If they are
capable of working well, then why wont they work in other things and not NREGA.”

8.5 Interview with Chandrakala Devi, an SPSS Member

In this subsection, we present her testimonials on the first three FIRs. Chandrakala Devi
is in her early 40s and one of the FIRs is filed against her as well. When asked the reasons
for the first FIR, she said that normally when they filed an application for work demand,
they received a receipt from the PO or the PRS. One copy they give the workers and one
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they keep it with them. The receipt contains the date. However, in the events leading
up to the first FIR, “The receipt that he gave us that time did not include the date and
name. We protested saying why are you giving us fake receipts. When we are fighting
for truth, you should also give us a receipt with all the details.” she said.

The entire team arrived on 16th to dish out fake receipts and the money was not given.
“We did not physically assault the PRS or anybody. There was no violence.” She further
added that the PO said that he doesn’t listen to anyone. The PO and the PRS refused to
take the work demand application that the sangathan provided them. She lamented “We
ask work and we ask for our wages. When we are working on the site, we demand that
the PRS record our attendance on the muster roll and tell us our attendance. But the
PRS never listens to us. They don’t put up any notice board at the site. When the work
gets done, then after one week, he comes once in a month for measurement.” She further
said that the PRS would print about 7 to 8 muster rolls at once and wouldn’t show the
muster rolls to the workers. He would keep it with him. Further, the PRS would not take
attendance on the muster roll everyday and would come to the site irregularly and even
the days when he does come, he takes the attendance in his notebook and not on the
muster rolls and that too just recording it for one day and not the other days. She adds
that “That is why we keep telling him that take our attendance and count and tell us
how much has been our attendance till date. Then he starts shouting, creating a ruckus
and then even threatens us. Finally he goes and files FIRs.”

This led to protest demonstration by the members of SPSS and the main reasons for
the demonstrations were - (a) not giving due wages for completed works, and (b) Issuing
incomplete/fake receipts for work demanded. In fact before the first FIR was filed, when
the PO and the PRS were held back in the Panchayat Bhavan, the sangathan members
prepared food for the PO and the PRS. The DDC arrived at the Panchayat Bhavan where
the PO and the PRS were held back by the sangathan members. The DDC assured that
the wages would be given to them and their work demand forms would be accepted by
the administration. The PO and the PRS were let go based on the assurance given by
the DDC and the first FIR was filed the very next day. Chandrakala Devi was also one
of the accused in the first FIR.

In a lighter vein, Chandrakala Devi said “Chor hai woh aise road par ghoomta hai. Jab
hum apna adhikar maangte hai toh FIR darj ho jata hai. (Real thieves seem to be roam
around freely but when we ask for our rights, FIRs are filed against us).” In a tone that
is both upset and resilient, she says that whenever they resist and raise voices against
malpractice by the administration, FIRs are being filed against them. When asked if
there was any timeline within which the administration would meet their just demands,
she said the DDC had given assurances such as work and wages will be given on time.
However, after a visit by the DDC, few people get 100 days in a year. She adds that
even when they go to the district office, leaving everything behind, taking things to cook
and stage a dharna for 2-3 months, very little changes take place after the dharna. They
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should be given work within their own panchayat and within a 5 kms radius but then
when they demand work, they are given work in panchayats far away recollecing the work
allotment in Turki. Regarding that, she says “It takes Rs.40 to travel to Turki. If they
keep paying Rs.80 for travelling to the worksite, what will we save”?

Regarding the events leading up to the third FIR filed in January 2017, Chandrakala Devi
mentioned that the labourers had requested to display a notice board indicating the cost
of a road construction work and display the names of people whose names appeared in
the muster rolls for the corresponding work. However, machines were being used and
people whose names were in the muster rolls that appeared in the NREGA MIS seemed
different from those working at the site. This led to a protest and consequently an FIR
was filed against Sanjay on January 1st, 2017. While the labourers were asking the PRS
of Mahant Maniyari panchayat, the PRS of Amarak panchayat, Shatrughan, intervened.
At this, one of the workers told Shatrughan that he wasn’t the relevant PRS and so he
had no business to intervene. It was a labour issue. The only people who should talk
about this are the labourers, PO and the relevant PRS.

When asked if she was afraid of the FIRs, she responded candidly saying “I don’t fear
death, why should I fear an FIR? What will they do? Take us to jail? I'm ready to
go. Do they think that if they take us to jail, we won’t ask for work from the jail?
We'll break the walls of the jail, we’ll tell them to give us work, take out the muster
rolls. We haven’t come to sit and eat in the jail. We want work even within the jail.”
When we asked if they raised such concerns before the formation of the sangathan, she
said “We never asked for our work before the sangathan was formed. We, women, never
even ventured out of our houses. We started asserting our rights after Sanjay bhhaiyya
came and told us about NREGA. In the beginning, we would work without filling work
demand applications.” When asked if being with the sangathan has changed anything
she quickly responded saying that she learned to raise her voice against injustice. She
further added that the sangathan members are like her siblings and thousands of women
would be willing to join any call for fighting for rights and justice. She adds that such
levels of assertion and empowerment has happened only due to the positive impact of
being with the sangathan. Reflecting on her priorities, she says “I compromise on my
family, on my household work for the meetings.” In a resounding tone of resilience, she
says “We are only asking for our rights as mentioned in the law. How much can they
also try to stop us?”

8.6 Interview with SPSS Members in Amrak panchayat

We met with several members of the sangathan in Medhaul village in Amrak panchayat
to gauge the context leading to the slew of FIRs against Sanjay Sahni and some other
sangathan members. Amrak panchayat is in Turki block. We are reporting the conversa-
tion that we primarily had with the following members of the sangthan — Sunaina Devi
(45), Suhaag Devi (60), Janaki Devi (35), Kanti Devi (32), Shanti Devi (35), Meena Devi
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(60), Khusmi Devi (60), Chanari Devi (50), and Khumug Devi.

They have been part of MGNREGA Watch since 2014. Trouble began, they said, when
Jeetendra Kumar, the current PO, assumed office. More recently, he has engaged in
creating trouble through filing an FIR by tearing the shirt of a PRS and putting mud
on him to falsely implicate Sanjay. The pressure tactics by the PO seems to work to
some extent as some people have begun to leave the sangathan. “It is too much for
some to handle” they say. According to them, the PRS of Amrak panchayat has also
been a source of trouble. He is reported to have said that “whoever is receiving senior
pension, their names won’t appear on the working list. If you're receiving benefits from
one government scheme, you're not eligible for another.” Both the PRS and the PO are
Bhumihars. They further added that “the PO has made breaking the NREGA Watch
(Sangathan) as his primary aim. The question of assault by us doesn’t even arise. We
don’t even touch them. We sit separately and talk. The PRS and the PO use very
abusive language.”

The first FIR in 2014 was filed in Mahant Maniyari. Since these members belong to a
different panchayat, they weren’t present at the site of the first FIR. They were, however,
present at the dharna that took place in the DC office in 2014 following the first FIR.
The demonstrations outside the DC office was held to protest against the false charges
against Sanjay in the first FIR. “We were present at the dharnathat took place 8 days
after the 15" FIR. We gave slogans from outside the DC office. We heard that the PO
said they wont give work using the sangathans form, which has been in use for a while.
Their form only had finger prints, no information. They had sought 8 days to correct
for the errors by the PO. We staged a dharnaonly when no steps were taken despite the
promise. The only reason to not accept our work application form was to sneak away
some money. We kept demanding work and they keep refusing, giving reasons like there
is no new scheme, there is no beneficiary who needs work, etc. We get tired and then
have to stage a dharna. Those who demand work and complain whenever the PO doesnt
give work are neglected. Even if we get work after our struggles, we get work allotted in
different panchayats. Why would we fight if we were getting everything on time? We are
only fighting for our rights.”

When asked about the third FIR, they echoed that road construction was going on and
they had employed labour whose name wasn’t there on the muster rolls issued. The work-
ers whose names were there had not been called or intimated about the work. “Hence
we confronted the PRS. It was after this that he accused us of driving a Bolero over his
foot. But we have heard that the PRS was troubling the workers a lot - insulting them,
even though as workers we try to never touch him/them. When we confront them, they
tear their own clothes, apply mud and cry foul. It is so funny that the PRS claims the
women mazdoor from Ratnauli drank sharaab, chased him and beat him up. Do we look
like women who drink? We have never even touched or tasted sharaab. The PO is trying
to make us leave NREGA and SPSS but he will run away but we will stay.” came a
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passionate response from these sangathan members.

The conversation veered towards understanding why they are still part of the sangthan
when they have to face so much trouble. The responses were variations of a similar
theme. For example, Sunaina Devi responded saying that the sangathan has given her a
platform to fight for her rights. “It helps us to deal with our miseries. Nobody amongst
us would leave the sangathan no matter what. We are united because of the sangathan
and we are demanding our rights - corruption free schemes.” she said without any doubt.
Janaki Devi is solely dependent on NREGA work for a significant part of the year. Janaki
Devi wants to continue in NREGA and the sangathan because she believes that NREGA
has a lot of potential for development in the village. She alluded to a great sense of
collective transparency in the sangathan when she said “Whatever is spent in the name
of the Sangathan, it is written in the books. A question of corruption doesnt even arise.
I will never lose my faith in MGNREGA or the sangathan.”

Having echoed similar thoughts like Sunaina Devi and Janaki Devi, Shanti Devi was a
little more vocal. “Bhaiyya (Sanjay) se hum mazboot hai, aur bhayiya hum se mazboot
hai. Humari bohot himmat bhi badh gayi hai Hum sab ek saath hai toh naa mazbooti hai.
Sangathan isiko naa bola jata hai. Sangathan hum sab hai (Sanjay is strong because of us
and we are strong because of Sanjay. Our strength comes from being together. Isn’t this
the meaning of a collective?” comes her measured and reasoned notion of the meaning
of a collective. She continued saying “Before, we were alone, now we are in a group - we
have solidarity. This for me is the biggest strength of the sangathan. I have a family at
SPSS. I now have courage because of the sangathan. In addition, before we used to only
get ration for 5 or 6 months in a year, but now because we fight together, we get full 12
months ration. Sangathan is also a source of information and knowledge about our rights
and the schemes. We never knew what a PO is or even what a PRS was but through
the sangathan we’ve learned about the rules and laws of various welfare programmes.”
Chanari Devi, a mother of 4 girls, was more silent but indicated that NREGA is the only
source of survival for her. Adding to what was already said, Kanti Devi chimed in “We
don’t do dharna because it is fun. We have rights and we have to fight for those rights.”

9 Conclusion

9.1 Predictable Patterns

The FFT’s objective was to put together verifiable facts and collect testimonies of varies
parties involved in the 4 FIRs that were filed against Sanjay Sahni and other members
of SPSS/MW.

Of the three FIRs that pertain to NREGA functioning, a pattern that seems to emerge is

the following: workers and local state actors clash on some issue regarding the implemen-
tation of the scheme. The workers are the ones on the right side of the law: for instance,
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in the case of the FIR filed on 13th of October, 2014, it is clear that the work receiving
slips being distributed by the state were incomplete and that SPSS’ format was better
at guaranteeing workers’ rights. Similarly, the assignment of labourers to a worksite over
15 kilometres away is allowed only in the case when work in their own Panchayat is not
available. The fact that in the subsequent months labourers worked in Mahant Maniyari
Panchayat on NREGA works indicates that this was clearly not the case.

The clash is followed by discussions, meetings and culminates in an altercation charac-
terised largely by verbal assaults and, rarely, a minor scuffle. In the case of the 31st
March, 2017 FIR, the ward member interviewed explicitly said there was no physical
contact; Indu Devi, a worker, said she was hit on the stomach by the PRS moving his
hands vigorously, who subsequently went on to threaten her. These eyewitness reports
are usually consistent across members of SPSS/BMW and other local non-state actors
across different FIRs. Furthermore, all accounts seem to suggest that no state actor is
physically assulted. However, a few days after the incident, an FIR is lodged where the
aggrieved party claims to have been physically harmed. Often, the accusers have vague
or inconsistent testimonies - the block PO dithered before hesitatingly confirming that
Sanjay Sahni was at the site on 31st March (when he was, actually, in Ranchi - though,
as we discussed, the FIR falsely claimed otherwise), the PRS refused to speak of the in-
cident at all and, in an informal chat, the attendant at the Emergency Ward specifically
stated that the PRS was “acting like he was hurt” and was “'perfectly fine”.

9.2 Concluding Observations

The FFT makes the following observations: One, at least one of the FIRs filed against
Sanjay Sahni - the most recent one - is wholly false, since there is incontrovertible evi-
dence to suggest that Sanjay was over 400 kilometres away in Ranchi. The others stand
on very weak ground, with the incongruent testimonies of a small set of government of-
ficials weighed against consistent accounts of a large number of SPSS workers and other
local actors.

Two, the state has failed to engage with organically formed civil society movements as
partners in the delivery of welfare for all. In fact, the very opposite happens: agitating
citizens - largely Dalit and illiterate women in this context - are seen as impediments to
the natural order of things. There is also a tendency for the higher levels of the state to
privilege accounts of members of the lower bureaucracy over that of the citizens - this only
serves as a means to exacerbate the trust deficit that exists between citizens and the state.

Three, the administrative system engages in acts that stretch, break and surreptitiously
circumvent legal safeguards put in place to ensure the protection of workers’ and citi-
zens’ rights. Furthermore, as the Mahant Maniyari Mukhiya’s testimony shows, the local
players are unabashed about their involvement in these acts and see them as neccessary
for smooth functioning of the state.
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Four, the local bureaucracy employs FIRs as a strategic tool to quash and silence people’s
voices and struggles for justice.

SPSS is a unique movement, homegrown and run by largely Dalit and illiterate women.
Let alone celebrate this fact and engage positively with SPSS, the state fails to even be
lukewarm towards the people’s movement. Instead, it engages in a witch-hunt, repeat-
edly filing false FIRs against members in an attempt to quash local struggles. This is
unfortunate and dangerous. Individual members are fearful of more blatant attacks on
their person and seek solace in collectiveness. It is time that sympathetic voices within
the state took firm stands on these issues and trusted evidence provided by workers and
neutral parties. These FIRs also continue to emphasize that civil society movements
across the country need to be vigilant and constantly engage in documenting events to
take charge of the narrative.
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